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The above-described material was removed from this
file pursuant to the following exemption provided in the
Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Section 552(b):

(1) Classified Information
(2) Internal rules and
practices

(3) Exempted by other
statute

(4) Trade secrets and
commercial or

L//”/ financial information
(5) Internal Documents

‘6)

(7)

(8)

Personal privacy

Investigatory
files

Banking
Information

Well Information
(geographic or
geophysical)
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Barbara Shea, Assistant Treasurer
Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee
Box 1016 : '
Manchester, New Hampshire 03105

Res MUR 1321
Dear Ms. Shea:

. This is in reference to the complaint you filed with
the Commission on October 24, 1980, concerning a "Defeat
Durkin" campaign being conducted in New Hampshire. After
conducting an investigation in this matter, the Commission
determined that there is no reason to believe the Defeat
Durkin effort violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, or .44la(f), no
reason to believe David Melville violated 2.U.S.C. §§ 433,
434, or 44la(a) in regard to the Defeat Durkin effort, and
no reason to believe either Robert Monier or Curt Clink-
scales violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433 or 434.

Additionally, the Commission determined that there
was reason to believe David Melville violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(c)(2) in regard to the reporting of independent
expenditures made by him as an individual. Enclosed,
for your information, is a copy of the conciliation .
agreement entered into by the Commission and David Melville.

The file number in this matter is MUR 1321. If you
have any questions please contact Maura White, the staff
member assigned to this matter, at 202-523-4057.
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Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
GeneraX Counsel

Al /&M&i—
Kenneth A. Gross
Associate Generdl Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement
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Barbara Shea, Asliotant Treasurer
Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee
Box 1016

Manchester, New Hampshire 03105

Re: MUR 1321

Dear Ms. Shea:

This is in reference to the complaint you filed with
the Commission on October 24, 1980, concerning a "Defeat
Durkin®" campaign being conducted in New Hampshire. After
conducting an investigation in this matter, the Commission
determined that there is no reason to believe the Defeat
Durkin effort violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, or 44la(f), no
reason to believe David Melville violated 2.U.S.C. §§ 433,
434, or 44la(a) in regard to the Defeat Durkin effort, and
no reason to believe either Robert Monier or Curt Clink-
scales violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433 or 434.

Additionally, the Commission determined that there
was reason to believe David Melville violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(c)(2) in regard to the reporting of independent
expenditures made by him as an individual. Enclosed,
for your information, is a copy of the conciliation
agreement entered into by the Commission and David Melville.

The file number in this matter is MUR 1321, If you
have any questions please contact Maura White, the staff
member assigned to this matter, at 202-523-4057.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele 9\\%\

AGeneral Counsel “\\l) 4‘6

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement
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W. Stephen Thayer
51 High Street
Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

‘Re: MUR 1321

Dear Mr. Thayer:

On August 18, 1981, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by counsel for your client
David Melville, and a civil penalty in settlement of a
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(c) (2), a provision of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.
Accordingly, the file has been closed in this matter, and it
will become a part of the public record within thirty days.
Please be advised, however, that 2 U.S8.C."§ 437g(a) (4) (B)
prohibits any information derived in connection with any
conciliation attempt from becoming public without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission.

. Should you wish any such information to become part of the

public record, please advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the
final conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

By :Kenneth A.
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation agreement
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'BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

‘ @u
5 2 "'n-
Gb Y
MUR 1321
David Melville s

*
CONCILIATION AGREEMENT i

This matter having been initiated by a signed, sworn,
and notarized complaint filed by Barbara Shea, Assistant
Treasurer of the Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee, an investi-
gation having been conductoé, and the Commission having
found reason to believe that Daviad Melville“('nolpohdent')
violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) by failing to file a 12 day
pre-election report and a 24 hour report-in connection with
the September 9, 1980, primary election in New Hampshire,
and a 12 day pre-~election report and a 30 day post-election
report in connection with the November 4, 1980, general
election; i

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondent, haviqg

participated in informal methods of conciliation, do hereby

agree as follows:
I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respond-

ent and the subject matter of this proceeding, and this

agreement has the effect of a conciliation agreement under

2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(4)(A).
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II. Respondent has had a reasonable opportuniéyzﬁb
demonstrate that no action should be taken in thii'm&ttcr.
III. Respondeﬁt enters voluntarily into this aéreement
with the Commission.
Iv. The pertinent‘facts in this matter are as follows:
l. Respondent made an expenditure to C and L Communi-
cations on August 14, 1980, in the amount of $7,468.73.
The expenditure was tor the costs of advertisements in

opposition to Senator John Durkin.

2. Respondent made an expenditure to C and L Communi-
cations on September 2, 1980, in the amomnt of $7,179.11.
The expenditure was for the costs of advertisements in

opposition to Senator John Durkin.

3. On October 10, 1980, Respondent filed an October 15,
1980, Report of Independent Expenditures (coverage dates P
July 1, 1980, through September 30, 1980). The October -15,
1980, filingy reported expenditures to C and.L Communications
on August 14, 1980, and September 2, 1980, in the amount
of $7,468.73 and $7,179.11, respectively, for the costs
of advertisements in opposition to Senator John Durkin.

4. Respondent made an expenditure to € and L Communi-
cations on October 6, 1980, in the amount of $6,272.44.

The expenditure was for the costs of advertisements in

opposition to Senator John Durkin.
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5. 'Rglﬁpndenﬁ'unde'an eiﬁﬁh@iéﬁrQ»té-CKand L
cations on Oétobér 7. 1980, in$Eﬁp amount of $6.272;¢4.:ﬂ
The expenditure was for the céstifpt advertisements in
opposition to Senator John Durkin.:

6. Respondent made an expenditure to W. Stephen
Thayer on November 8, 1980, in the amount of $2,000 for
legal services.

7. Respondent made an expenditure to C and L Communi-
cations on December 24, 1980, in the amount of $3,652.96.
The expenditure was for the costs of advertisements in
opposition to Senator John Durkin.

8. On Jaggary l6, 1981, Respondeng\fiied a Year-End
Report (coverage dates October 1, 1980, through December 31,
1980) of Independent Expenditures. The 1980 Year-End filing
reported expenditures to C and L Communications on October 6,
1980, October 7, 1980, and December 24, 1980, in the amount
of $6,272.44, $6,272.44, and $3,652.96, respectively, for
the costs of advertisements in opposition to Senator Johﬁ
Durkin. The filing also reported an expenditure of $2,000
to W. Stephen Thayer on November 8, 1980, for legal services.

9. On March 19, 1981, Respondent filed a 12 day pre-
primary election report which reported an expenditure to
C and L Communications on August 14, 1980, in the amount of
$7,468.73 for the costs of advertisements in opposition to
Senator John Durkin. Respondent also filed a 24 hour report

in connection with the September 9, 1980, primary election
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which reported an expenditure to C and L cthnnicitténq@on
September 2, 1980, in’the‘amount~of $7,179.11}£9r't5. d&ltl
of advertisements in opposition to Senator John Durkin.

10. On March 30, 1981, Respondent filed j 30 day post-
general election report (coverage dates September 30, 1980,
through November 24, 1980) which reported expenditures of
$6,272.44 to C and L Comﬁunications on October 6, 1980,
and October 7, 1980, respectively, for the costs of advertise~-
ments in opposition to Senator John Durkin, and an expen-
diture of $2,000 to W. Stephen Thayer on November 8, 1980,
for legal services. |
WHEREFORE, Respondent agrees: P>

V. Respondent violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) by failing
to file a 12 day pre-primary election report and a 24 hour
report prior to the September 9, 1980, primary election in
New Hampshire, a 12 day pre-general election report prior to
the November 4, 1980, general election, and a 30 day post:
general election report by December 4, 1980.

VI. Respondent will pay a civil penalty to the Treasurer
of the United States in the amount of five hundred dollars
($500), pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(5)(A).

VII. Respondent will file a 12 day pre-general election
report to report two expenditures of $6,272.44 to C and L
Communications for advertisements in opposition to Senator

John Durkin on October 6, 1980, and October 7, 1980,

respectively.
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' VIII. Respondent agrees tha

.‘.activity'whichwis inﬂvibiation of

Campa;gn Act of 1971, as amended. z:u §.C. § 431, et _gg

IX. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a

complaint under 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1l) concerning the matters

at issue herein or on its own motion, may review compliance

If the Commission believes that this

with this agreement.

agreement or any requirement thereof has been violated, it

may institute a civil action for relief in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia.

X. This agreement shall become effective as of the

date that all parties hereto have executed same and the

Commission has approved the entire agreement. =
XI. Respondent shall have no more than thirty (30)

days from the date this agreement becomes effective to

comply with and implement the requirements contained in

this agreement and to so notify the Commission. 5

XII. Respondent ‘maintains that he reported all expenditures to defeat
Sen. Durkin to the Commission and that all reports were prepared and filed on
the advice of counsel.

81 0403007 7

Ch#rles N. Steel
General Counsel
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CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emons, Recording Secretary for the Federal
Election Comuission's Executive Session on August 18, 1981, do
hereby certify that the Commission decided by a vote of 4-2 to
accept the conciliation agreement attached to the General Counsel's
August 7, 1981 memorandum, which had been signed by counsel for
David Melville. |

Camissioners Aikens, Harris, McGarry, and Thamson voted
affirmatively for the decision; Commissioners Reiche and Tiernan
dissented.

W Crmaae

Marjorie W. Emmons
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following actions regarding MUR 1321:

l. Find REASON TO BELIEVE
David Melville violated
2 U.S.C. § 434(c) (2) by his
failure to file a 12 day pre-
general election report and :
a 30 day post-general election
report.

Approve the conciliation

agreement and letter as

submitted with the General

Counselfs May 11, 1981 report.
Commissioners Aikens, Harris, Thomson and Tiernan

voted affirmatively in this matter; Commissioners McGarry
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and Reiche did not cast a vote.

Attest:

- /#-5/ Sovoe. 2 M

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
ecretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 5-12-81, 10:00
Circulated on 48 hour vote basis: 5-12-81, 4:00
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

CEARLES STEELE |

MARJORIE W. EMMONS/JODY CUSTER,

MAY 14, 1981 :
SUBJECT: " COMMENTS REGARDING MUR 1321

Attached is a copy of Commissioner Reiche's

vote sheet with comments regarding his reason for

PN

not casting a vote in the above-named matter.

.

ATTACHMENT :
Copy of Vote Sheet







BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
b U
In the Matter of ) '
)
David Melville ) MUR 1321

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

I. BACKGROUND

On February 18, 1981, the Commission found reason to
believe David Melville violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) by
failing to file reports of independent expenditures made by
him as an individual. Specifically, Mr. Melville failed to
file a 12 day pre-election report and a 24 hour report prior
to the September 9, 1980, primary election in New Hampshire.
Instead, Mr. Melville had filed an October 15, 1980, report
on October 10, 1980, which reported expenditures made by him
on August 14, 1980, and September 2, 1980.

Notification of the Commission's finding was mailed to
David Melville on February 23, 1981. Responses from counsel

for Mr. Melville were received on March 19, 1981, and March 30,
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1981 (Attachments 1 and 2). On April 6, 1981, the Office of
General Counsel received a letter from counsel for Mr. Melville
which stated that his client would like to resolve this
matter through informal conciliation (Attachment 3).

The March 19, 1981, response of Mr. Melville included
the filing of a 12 day pre-election report and a 24 hour

report in regard to expenditures made to influence the New
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that the failure to file the correct report was 'daof,o ht :
fact that the commiacion's [sic]) prior fotma dia not 1ndicate
either the twelve (12) day report or the twenty-four (24) |
hour report."”

Subsequent to the Commission's reason to believe finding
in regard to the reporting of primary.election expenditures,
it came to the attention of the Office of General Counsel
that Mr. Melville should have also filed a 12 day pre-general
election report and a 30 day post-general election report. 1/
These apparent additional violations of 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2)
were conveyed to counsel for Mr. Melv1lle during a telephone
conversation on March 5, 1981. Mr. Melv1lle then filed a
30 day post-general election report on March 30, 1981, in
an attempt to rectify the general election reporting omissions.
The Office of General Counsel has reviewed the March 30, 1981,
filing and determined that a 12 day pre-general election
report is also required to be filed. Expenditures required
to be filed on the 12 day pre-general election report were

mistakenly included on the 30 day post-general election report.

1l/ On January 16, 1981, David Melville filed a Year-End
Report of Independent Expenditures which reported
expenditures for advertising to C and L Communications

on October 6, 1980 ($6,272.44), October 7, 1980 ($6,272.44),
and December 24, 1980 ($3,652.96), and an expenditure to

W. Stephen Thayer on November 8, 1980, for legal services.




counsel for Mr. Melville
villingness to file the correct report.

II. Pactual and Legal Analysis

Section 434(c)(2) of Title 2, United States Code,
requires every person making independent expenditures to
file, no later than the 12th day before any election, a pre-
election report which is complete as of the 20th day before
the election. Section 434(c)(2) further requires a person
making independent expenditures to file, no later than the
30th day after the general election, a post-general election
report which is'ébmplete as of the 20th day after the gener&l
election.

The Year-End report filed by David Melville on January 16,
1981, indicates that David Melville made four expenditures
during the period of October 1, 1980, through December 31, 1980.

See footnote 1. Based upon information reported on Mr. Melville's

N
N
~N
o
c
M
o
v
o
0

Year-End filing, it is the view of the General Counsel that
David Melville violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) by his failure

to file a 12 day pre-general election report and a 30 day
post-general election report in fegard to the November 4, 1980,
general election. Although Mr. Melville reported the expen-
ditures on January 16, 1981, three of the expenditures should
have been reported to the Commission prior to that time. Since

the October 6 and October 7, 1981, payments for the advertise-




the llmnnbcr 8, 1980, npcnditun \ms made bctou tlm .
after tho gﬁneral election, Mr. uelville should have illo flltd.
a 30 day post-general election report by December 4, 1980.

In view of the foregoing, the General Counsel recommends
that the Commission find reason to believe David Melville
violated 2 U.8.C. § 434(c)(2) in regard to the reporting of
expenditures dated October 6, October 7, and November 8, 1980.
Additionally, since the respondent wishes to resolve this
matter through informal conciliation, the General Counsel
recommends that the Commission approve the attached conciliation
agreement which ihcorporates the above-recommended reason to

believe finding.

III. General Counsel's Recommendations
l. Find reason to believe David Melville violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(c)(2) by his failure to file a 12 day pre-general election
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report and a 30 day post-general election report.

2. Approve the attached conciliation agreement and letter.

Attachments:

1. response of March 19, 1981

2. response of March 30, 1981

3. letter of April 6, 1981

4. Year-End Report

5. proposed letter and agreement.

General Counsel
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John Warren McGarry
Chairman

Federal Election Commission
Washington, DC 20463

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Mr. Chairman:

Pursuant to your letter of February 23, 1981, I am enclosing
herewith the twelve (12) day report and twenty-four (24) hour report
regarding the New Hampshire primary which was held on September 9,
1980 and which was to be filed by David B. Melville.

The above oversight was made due to the fact that the commissions

prior forms did not indicate either the twelve (12) day report or

the twenty-four (24) hour report. Your commission in reviewing Mr.
Melville's quarterly report and the accurate information contained
therein which clearly stated when and in what amount contributions

and expenditures were made during the periods covered by both the
twelve (12) day and twenty-four (24) hour report established that

we had not filed the forms with the commission although we had pro-
vided the information.

Very truly yours,
w. Mpher. Thayy , TE
W. Stephen Thayer, III (3&”?0:>

WST/1mp
Enclosure
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1. (a) Neme
David B. Helvilln

01d Ashburnham Rbld

e fow Haseahire 03461

{d) Neme of Employer

4. TYPE OF REPORT (check apprapriste boxes):
(a) O April 15 Quarterly Report
Q Juiy 15 Quarterly Report
QO Ocrober 15 Quartsrly Report
O Janusry 31 Yesr End Report
O July 31 Mid Year Report

% Tweiteh Day Report preceding_Prima EY  slection on 9/9/80

in the State or NEW Hampshire

Q Thirtieth Day Report following the Genersl ll.ﬂiﬂl:l on

in the State of

fROM: 7/1/80

5. This Report covers the period —

THROUGH:

9/9/80

CONTRIBUTIONI(S) RECEIVED

Name of

Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
Employer

of Contributor

Dats (Menth,

Oocupation
3 Dey, Year)

" Full Name, Mailing Address and 2IP Code

72

EXPENDITURE(S) MADE

Date (Month,
Day, Year)

Purpoes of

of Payee Expenditure

Name and Office Sought
(District, State) of Federai
Candidate

Amount

Advertise< 8/14/80

ment

C&L Communications
1941 N. Woodley
Arlington, VA 22207

John Durkin, U.S.
Senate

7468.73

8. Total Contributions

9. Total Expenditures

0

Under penaity of perjury | certify that the independent expenditures reported
herein were not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in
consultation with, or at the request or suggestion of, a candidate or agent or
authorized committee of such candidste. Furthermore, these expenditures did
not involve the financing of, the dissemination, distribution or republication, in
whole or in part, of any campaign materials prepared by the candidate or
an agent or authorized committee of the candidate.

3 /10 [81

7 J
’Duo

SIGNATURE

day ot _March

My Commission Expires:

Mgor 987
d

s,
! o

i ey I
. \')I A
E

NOTE: Submusion of false, erroneous, or incomplets information may subject the person signing this report to the peoalves of. 214).5.C..437¢;.

For further information contact:
Federal Election Commission
Toll Free 800-424-9530
Local 202-523 4068

Any information reported hereinimay ndt ta cooied for sale
or use by any person for the purposes 5f 20ilciting cantribu-
tions or for any other commercial -pusp3se- excent. that the
name and address of any polmca:commmn may. bo vsad 10
solicit contributions from such committes. ...

FEC FORM S (4/80)
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1. (a) Name
David 8. Melvilii

T b) Address %
0ld Ashhurnhan

) City, State end ZIP Code

Rindge, New Hanp3h;re '034§if

of Empiover
‘?ﬂ f- Empl oyed

4. TYPE OF REPORT (check mmm bou-l

(a) O April 15 Quarterly Report
O July 18 Quarterly Report
O October 15 Quarterly Report

O January 31 Year End Report

O Julv 31 Mid Yesr Report

N1hdﬁmcnvﬂumnmmMMn_ﬂriﬂltx__;chnhauuﬂuﬁlﬂﬂ____

in the Sure ot _New Hampshire (24-hour report)

O Thirtieth Dsy Report following the Genersl Election on

in the State of

5. This Report covers the period — FROM:

8/20/80

THROUGH:  9/9/80

CONTRIBUTION(S) RECEIVED

Fuit Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Cade

of Cantributor

Name of
Employer

Occupstion

7.

EXPENDITURE(S) MADE

Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
of Payee

Purpose of
Expenditure

Date (Month,
Day, Year)

Amount Check One Name and Office Sought
(District, State) of Federal

Support|Oppose Candidate

C&L Communications Advertise-

1941 N. Woodley
Arlington, VA 22207

ment

9/2/80

$7179.11 X | John Durkin, U.S.
Senate

8. Total Contributions

9. Total Expenditures . . . .

e 7179.11

Under penaity of perjury | certify that the independent expenditures reported
herein were not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in
consultation with, or at the request or suggestion of, 3 candidate or agent or

authorized committee of such candidate. Furthermore, these expenditures did
not invoive the financing of, the dissemination, distribution or republication, in My Commission Expires:
whole or in part, of any campaign materiais prepared by the candidata or
an agent or authorized committee of the candidate.

L LY

SIGNATURE

NOTE: Submission of faise, erroneous, or incomplete information may subject the person signing this report to the peralui ol 2UsS.C. 437q

W
Subscribed and sworn to before me this ___\0_\

dav of March

Mo, 1987
Q)

For further information contact:

Federel Election Commission

Toil Free 800-424-9530
Locai 202-5234068

Any information reported hergin may. not be: cooi.d for sale
or use by any person for the purposes of soliciting contrbu-
tions or for eny other commercial PUrpOss except that the
name and address of any political committee Mmay be used to
solicit contributions from such committes.

FEC FORM S (4/80)
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Maura White
Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, NW '
Washington, DC 20463

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Ms. White:

Enclosed please find the forms that we previously‘
spoke about.

Please contact me upon receipt.
Very truly yours,
W. &
W. Stephen Thayer, III

WST/ Lmp
Enclosure
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omd 8. m. n

0ld Ashburnham md
161 ity, Stave and ZIF Code
Rindge, New HnmpsMre ﬂ.‘iﬁﬁl

1@ Name of Empiover
Sel f-employed

4. TYPE OF REPORT (check sppropriste boxes):

election on

(a) O April 18 Quarterly Report

Q Tweifth Day Report preceding

O July 18 Quarterly Report in the State of 5

0 October 15 Quarterly Report ¥ Thirtieth Dav Report following the Genersi llmw; on _ulﬂlﬂ___
New Hampshire j

O January 31 Year End Report in the State of

O July 31 Mid Year Report

5. This Report covers the period = FROM:  Sept, 30,1980 THROUGH: 24 Noyember 1980
6. . CONTRIBUTION(S) RECEIVED ]
~N Full Natne, Malling Address snd ZIP Code Name of . Occupation Date (Month, Amount
of Contnibutor Employer g Day, Year}
™
~ 0
o
c 7. EXPENDITURE(S) MADE
- Full Name, Mailing Addrem and Z1P Code Purpose of Date (Month, Amount Check One Name and Office Sougnt
A of Payee Expenditure Day, Year) {District, State) of Federai
upport| Oppose Candidate
(o)
< C & L Communications Advertise [10/6/80 [$6,272.44 X |John Durkin, U.S. Sen.
194} N. Woodley St. 10/7/80 1$6,272.44 X |John Durkin, U.S. Sen.
o Arlington, VA 22207 IS
e Stgphen Thayer, III Legal '11/8/80 $2,000.00 X |John Durkin, U.S. Sen.
51 High Street . ) Frts New Hampshire
e Manchester, N.H.

0

8. Total Contributions. . « . v « - ¢« e o v v e L e B oy (1 Y L e sy s s P o o B e . 8

2 14,544 .88
9. Towl Expenditures. . . ... 5 800100 a 0o 2o tiH oo o Sioo o B0t Bl 06 &0 H ooieE o d oo ka0 o 0 ook a
Under penaity of perjury | certify that the independent axpenditures reported Subscribed and sworn to before me this 17th

hersin wers not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in March

consuitation with, or at the request Or suggestion of, a candidate or sgent or day of 981
authorized committee of such candidate. Furthermore, thess expenditures did
not involve the financing of, the dissemination, distribution or republication, in My Commission Experes:
hoie or i . of ign marerials idste or
whole or in part, of any campaign ri mpavcd by the candids Ma y 14 2 1987

an agent or authorized committee of the candidate.
ub cl

n-D~3'l L» March 17, 1981 Aubrey

SIGNATURE Date

\.4

NOTE: Submission of false, erroneous, or incomptete information May subject the person signing this report to the penalties of 2 U.S.C, 437g.

For further information contact: Any information reported herein may nov be copieg for sale

Federal Election Commission or use by any person for the Purposes of soliciting contridbu-
Toll Free B00-424-9530 tions or for any other commercial purpose except that the

Local 202-5234068 name and address of any political committee may be usec 10
y - solicit contributions from such committes.

FEC FORM 5 (4/80)
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Charles N. Steele

General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W. &
Washington, DC 20463

Re: MUR 1321
.Dear Mr. Steele:

Please be adﬁised that I wish to enter into informal
consideration with the Federal Election Commission relative
to the above referenced matter. I will be available at
your request to discuss this matter.

Very truly yours,

W. At 7=

/
W. Stephen Thayer, III (W>
WST/1mp

Dictated but not read
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ATTACHMENT S: PROPOSED LETTER AND
CONCILIATION AGREEMENT
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Aprilz, 981

Charles N. Steele

General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20463

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Mr. Steele:

Please be advised that I wish to enter into informal
consideration with the Federal Election Commission relative
to the above referenced matter. I will be available at
your request to discuss this matter. - )

Very truly yours,

W. Sephern =

y
W. Stephen Thayer, III (;Z¢7p>

WST/ lmp

Dictated but not read
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W. STEPHEN THAYER, III
O ATTORNEY AT LAW
B8} HICH STREET
ANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE 003104

Charles N. Steele

General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20463
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CHARLES STEELE N
MARJORIE W. MONS /JODY cusm&b
APRIL 1, 1981
MUR 1321 Interim Investigative Report #1,
dated 3-27-81; Received in oOCs, 3-30-81,
4:31
The above-named document was circulated to the
Commission on a 24 hour no-objection basis at 11:00,
March 31, 1981.
There were no objections to the Interim Investigative

Report at the time of the deadline.







In the Matter of ) B
)
David Melville )

INTERIM INVESTIGATIVE REPORT #1

On February 18, 1981, the Commission found reason to believe
David Melville violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c) (2) by failing to timely
report independent expenditures made by him as an individual.

On February 23, 1981, a reason to believe notification letter
was mailed to the respondent. On March 5, 1981, staff of this
office and counsel for the respondent engaged in a telephone
conversation durigg which respondent's counsel stated a desire
to resolve this matter prior to a finding of probable cause to
believe. On March 18, 1981, David Melville filed two reports
of independent expenditures which were the subject of the

reason to believe finding. Subsequent to the reason to believe

N
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finding, it came to the attention of this office that Mr. Melville

may have violated § 434 (c) (2) in regard to additional expenditures

8

made by him in connection with the 1980 general election. On

March 23 and March 27, 1981, this office attempted to contact

counsel for the respondent. Respondent's counsel is expected to
contact this office early next week, and following that communication

this office will make a further report to the Commission.

Charle Steelée
General Counsel
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 March 27, 1981

Maura White
Federal Election Commission

1325 K Street, NW
Washington, DC 20463
Re: MUR 1321

Dear Ms. White:

Enclosed please find the forms that we previously
spoke about.

Please contact me upon receipt.
Very truly yours,
W. Mux. W? y
W. Stephen Thayer, III (Cé7§f{)

WST/1mp
Enclosure
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1. (a) Neme
David B. Melville

01d Achburnham Road
Ol T e
Rindge, New Hampshire 03461

{d) Name of Employer
Self-employed

4. TYPE OF REPORT (check approprists boxes):

O Tweifth Dsy Report praceding

(s) O Aprit 15 Quarterly Report

O July 18 Quarterly Report in the Siste of .

O October 15 Quarterly Report Ol Thirtieth Dsy Report following the Genersl Eisction on _.llL!Lﬂl____
New Hampshire

O Jenuary 31 Year End Report in the State of

O July 31 Mid Year Report

8. This Report covers the period — FROM: * Sept. 30,1980THROUGH: 24 Noyember 1980
8. CONTRIBUTION(S) RECEIVED
- Full Narne, Mailing Address and 21P Neme of - Ossupstion Dste (Month, Amount
of Contributor __ Employer ) o Day, Year)
v
~
o
< 7. EXPENDITURE(S) MADE '
e Full Name, Mailing Address and 2IP Code Purpose of Date (Month, Amount Check One Name and Office Sought
¢ of Payee Expenditure Day, Year) (Distriet, State) of Federsl
= Kupport|Oppom Candidate
ol e - ] B e
. 3 : o 5 BN, 4
o Arlington, VA 22207 ’ et 2
o W Stgphen Thayer, 1II HLegal 11/8/80 1$2,000.00 X [John Durkin, U.S. Sen.
51 High Street New Hampshire
®® Manchester, N.H.

0
14,544 .88

8. TowlContributions. . .. ....c00.. . 0 IG OO T O et ol o T T Rzl & el I8 55D O

9 oA EXDaNAIUes 0 T ot e R el e e e Ll AT i R S s

Under penalty of perjury | certify that the independent expenditures reported Subscribed and sworn to before me this 1 1th
herein were not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in March
23 consultation with, or at the request or suggestion of, » candidats or sgent or day of

g8l
authorized committee of such candidate. Furthermors, thess expenditures did
not involve the financing of, the dissemination, distribution or republication, in My Commission Expires: ‘./-(/
ho) i rt, of sny campei i h i
whole or in part, of sny paign matarisls prepared by the cmdcda'« or May 14 ) 1987 {L—
c

an agent or authorized tommittee of the candidats.

el RS -

SIGNATURE Date

NOTE: Submission of false, erroneous, or incomplete information may subject the person signing this report 10 the pena'ties of 2 U.S.C. 4373,

For further information contact: Any information reporied hese.n M3y not be cooied for sa'e

Federal Eiection Commission or use by any person for the purcoses of soliciting contriby-
Toll Free 800-424-9530 tions or for any other commercial DurPose except that the

Locsl 202-523-4068 name and address of any polit'car commiftes May be used 10
. - solicit contributions from such commitiee.

FEC FORM 5 (4 £3!
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John Warren McGarry
Chairman

Federal Election Commission
Washington, DC 20463

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Mr. Chairman:

Pursuant to your letter of February 23, 1981, I am enclosing
herewith the twelve (12) day report and twenty-four (24) hour report
regarding the New Hampshire primary which was held on September 9,
1980 and which was to be filed by David B. Melville.

The above oversight was made due to the fact that the commissions

prior forms did not indicate either the twelve (12) day report or

the twenty-four (24) hour report. Your commission in reviewing Mr.
Melville's quarterly report and the accurate information contained
therein which clearly stated when and in what amount contributions

and expenditures were made during the periods covered by both the
twelve (12) day and twenty-four (24) hour report established that

we had not filed the forms with the commission although we had pro-
vided the information.

Very truly yours,

w. Spley

, TE
W. Stephen Thayer, III [W)

WST/ Lmp
Enclosure

8+ .
o 61 Wy -

tY b,
4
=)
\



- mm s
(MM B. nemm
Old Ashburuhul Roud

ﬂi n'age'."ﬁ'eu Hampshfre 03461
(d) Neme of Employer

4. TYPE OF REPORT (check sppropriate boxes): _ _
(a) O April 15 Guarterly Report B Tweitth Dey Report preceding Erimary _ elestion on 9/9/80

in the State o _NEW_Hampshire

O July 18 Quarterly Report
O October 18 Quarterly Report O Thirtieth Day Report following the Genersl Election on

O Jsnusry 31 Yesr End Report in the State of
O July 31 Mid Year Report
5. This Report covers the period — rrom: 7/1/80 THROUGH:  9/9/80

6. CONTRIBUTION(S) RECEIVED

Full Name, Mailing Address and 21P Code Name of Oecsupatien
of Contributor Employer

7. EXPENDITURE(S) MADE

Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code |  Purposs of Date (Month, Amount Name and Office Sought

of Payee Expenditure Dsy, Yeer) (Distriet, State) of Pederal
Candidste

C&L Communications Advertise- 8/14/80 | 7468.73 John Durkin, U.S.
1941 N. Woodley ment Senate
Arlington, VA 22207 -
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8. Total Contributions

9. Total Expendituris

Under penaity of perjury | certify that the independent expenditures reported

herein were not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in

consultation with, or st the request or suggestion of, a candidate or agent or day of
authorized committee of such candidate. Furthermore, thess expenditures did

not involve the financing of, the dissemination, distribution or republication, in My Commission Expires:
whole or in part, of any campeign materials prepared by the candidate or M u \q g?
an agent or autharized committee of the candidata. (e Al —)-

DasaBl LI 3/ofe G
SIGNATURE Toate ' \ :

NOTE: Submission of faise, erroneous, or incomplete information may subject the pmn signing this report t0 the mlliu} of\zwu S.C. 4319:

For further information contact: Any information reported hmlm mav qbr bn copied for sale
Federal Election Commission or use by any person for thepPurposes af wbcn-ag conteibu-
Toll Free 800-424-9530 tions or for sny other commercial DU except. that the
Local 202-5234068 name and address of any politi commmu m-v be um 0
solicit contributions from such com\nmo-) s e

i -’-Ec FORM 5 (4/80)




1. (a) Neme
David B. Melvill

) Address

01d Ashburnham Ro
Tl Gity, Stete and ZIP Codk

Rindge. New Hmpshire 03461
‘ggri":Employed .
4. TYPE OF REPORT (check spproprists boxes):

(a) O Aprit 15 Quarterly Report ® Tweitth Doy Report preceding_BLimAXY _ etectionon 9/9/80
O July 15 Quarterly Report ' in the Sure ot _New Hampshire (24-hour report)

O October 18 Quarterly Report O Thirtieth Day Report following the Generai Election on

O January 31 Year End Report in the Suats of
C July 31 Mid Yesr Report
8. This Report covers the period — FROM: 8/20/80 THROUGHN: 9/9/80

8. CONTRIBUTION(S) RECEIVED _
Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Name of Oeccupstion -
of Contributor Employer

7. EXPENDITURE(S) MADE

Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code | Purpose of | Dste (Month, Amount Name snd Office Sought

of Payes Expenditure Oay, Yesr) {District, State) of Federsl
Candidate

C&L Communications Advertise-| 9/2/80 $7179.11 John Durkin, U.S.
1941 N. Woodley ment Senate
Arlington, VA 22207

~
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8. Total Contributions

s 7179.11

9. Total Expenditures . . .

Under penaity of perjury | certify that the independent expenditures reported Subscribed and sworn to before me this _l&
hersin ware not made with the cooperation or with the prior consent of, or in

consultation with, or at the request or suggestion of, a candidate or agent or dsy of MaY‘Ch

authorized committee of such candidate. Furthermore, these expenditures did

not involve the financing of, the disssmination, distribution or republicstion, in My Commission Expires:

whole or in part, of any campaign materials prepared by the candidate or

an agent or authorized committee of the candidate. ‘\0\ Ot | “(3 lq ? q

: ‘ 'B/IOIKL

SIGNATURE

NOTE: Submission of false, erroneous, or incomplete information may subject the person signing this report to the pmdu)p o' 2 YsS.C. 437q

For further information contact: Any information reported herein mcy.,qbt be: eoond for sale
Federal Election Commission or use by any person for the purposes of saliciting contribu-
Toll Free 800-424-9530 tions or for any other commercial purpose except that the
Local 202-523-4068 name and address of any political committes may be used to
solicit contributions from such committee.

FEC FORM S (4/80)




W. STEPHEN THAYER, III
ATTORNEY AT LAW
Bl HI1IOH STREET
MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03104

John Warren McGarry

Chatirman
Federal Election Commission

Washington, DC 20463




 FEDERAL ELECTION comwssnon
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

@Q/

MARJNDRIE W. EMMONS/MARGARET CHANEY /QVDQ,
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY TO THE COMHISSION

FEBRUARY 25, 1981

MUR 1321 - Errata - Memorandum to the
Commission dated 2-23-81; Received in
0OCS 2-24-81, 9:57

CHARLES STEELE J

The above-named document was circulated to the
Commission on a no-ohjection basis at 4:00, February 24, 1981.

There were no objections to the amendment of recom-

mendation one in the First General Counsel's Report in MUR 1321

(Executive Session, February 18, 198l1). The recommendation should

read "FPind no reason to believe the Defeat Durkin effort violated

2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, or 44la(f).”
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIO

one in the First General Counsel's Report in MUR 1321 (Executive
Session, February 18, 1981) contains a.typographical error.

The recommendation should be amended to read "Find no reason

:to believe the Defeat Durkln effort v1olated 2 U.s.C. §§ 433,
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MEHOhiﬁnUnaQOs The 00mmisuion1
FROM3 Charles N. 'steoW'
General Counsel

SUBJECT: MUR 1321-~Errata

It has come to my attention that recommendation number
one in the PFirst General Counsel's Report in MUR 1321 (Executive
Session, February 18, 1981) contains a.typographical error.
The recommendation should be amended to read "Find no reason
to believe the Defeat Durkin effort violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433,
434,0r 44l1a(f)."
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&BtMl." E?LECTION comwssmﬂ

February 23, 1981

CERTIFIED MAIL

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

W. Stephen Thayer, III
51 High Street
Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Mr. Thayer:

Oon October 27, 1980, the Commission notified your
clients, David Melville and Robert Monier, of a con-
plaint alleging that they may have violated certain
sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971,
as amended ("the, Act").

The Conmission, on February 18, 1981, deterrined,
on the basis of information in the complaint and
infornation provided by you, that there is no reason
to believe Robert Monier violated sections 433 and
434 of the Act, and no reason to believe David
Melville violated sections 433, 434, or 44la of the
Act in regard to the Defeat Durkin effort.

However, the Commission determined that there is
reason to believe David Melville violated section
434(c)(2) of the Act. Specifically, it appears that
David Melville failed to file a 12 day pre-prinary
election report and a 24 hour report, reporting in-
dependent expenditures made by hir, prior to the
primary election in New Hampshire.

You may submit any factual or legal materials
which you believe are relevant to the Commission's
analysis of this matter. Flease file any such response
within ten days of your receipt of this notification.
In the absence of any additional information which
deronstrates that no further action should be taken
against your client, the Comrission may find probable
cause to believe a viclation has occurred and proceed
with formal conciliation. Of course, this does not
preclude settlement of this matter through inforral
conciliation prior to a finding of probable cause to
believe if you so desire.




Letter to: S. Thayer
‘Page 2

ey
.

The investigation now being conducted will be
confidential in accordance with 2 U.S8.C. § 437g(a)(4)
(B) and § 437g(a)(12)(A), unless you notify the Comm-
ission in writing that you wish the investigation
to be made public.

If you have any questions, piease contact Maura
White, the staff member assigned to this matter, at
202-523-4060.

OHN WARREN McGARRY
Chairman
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FE mgLECIION coMMISSION

Pebruary iS;l}98i 

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN EIPT REQUESTED

Curt Clinkscales

CsL Communications

101 Park Washington Court
Falls Church, Virginia 22046

Re: MUR 1321
Dear Mr. Clinkscales:

On October 27, 1980, the Commission notified you
of a complaint alleging that you may have violated
certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act").

The Commission, on February 18, 1981, determined,
on the basis of the information in the complaint and
information provided by you, that there is no reason
to believe a violation of any statute within its
jurisdiction has been committed. If you wish to
submit any materials to appear on the public record,
please do so within ten days.

If you have any questions please contact Maura
White, the staff member assigned to this matter, at
202-523-4060,

l.nnnuuu-mui-p—n«ueugy
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£ Show 10 whom and date dclivessd.
D Show
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1. mmmmmmm
Durkin effort violated 2 U.S.C. §§433, -
434, or 44la(a).

Find NO REASON TO BELIEVE David Melville
violated 2 U.S.C. §§433, 434, or 44la(a) .
in regard to the Defeat Durkin effort.

i

Find REASON TO BELIEVE David Melville
violated 2 U.S.C. §434(c) (2) in regard

Find NO REASON 7O EELIEVE Robert Monier
violated 2 U.S.C. §§433 or 434.

'Find NO REASON TO BELIEVE Curt Clinkscales
violated 2 U.S:C. §§433 or 434.

Sendﬂaelettersasattachﬁtotlal?irst
GemralOmmsel'slhportdatedkhruary%
1981.
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Commissioners Aikens, bbGan:y,_‘ Reiche, Thomson, and Tiernan

B

wvoted for the actions.
’Attest:

2-20-8/ e o Ll ffh L
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 1

CHARLES STEELE

MARJORIE W. EMMONS/MARGARET CHANEY .
FEBRQ§B¥713, 1981

OBJECTION - MUR 1321 - First General

Counsel's Report dated 2-9-81; Received
in OCs 2-9-81, 1:38

The above-named document was circulated on a 48

hour vote basis at 11:00, February 11, 1981.

Commissioner Tiernan submitted an objection at 12:03,
February 13, 1981.
This matter will be placed on the Executive Session

Agenda for Wednesday, February 18, 1981.
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DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL
BY OGC TO THE COMMISSION 2-9

COMPLAINANT'S NAME: Barbara Shea/Durkin for U.8. Senate Committee

RESPONDENT'S NAME: Defeat Durkiny David Melville; Robert
Monier; Curt Clinkscales

RELEVANT STATUTE: 2 U.S.C. §§ 431, 433, 434, 441a(a), 44l1a(f)
INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: Public records

FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: None

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

On October 24,..0980, the Durkin for U.S.. Senate
Committee filed a complaint against David Melville, Curt
Clinkscales, Robert Monier, and "Defeat Durkin." The
complaint alleges that Defeat Durkin is an entity
"dedicated to the defeat of Senator Durkin" in the 1980
Senate election and is a political committee under the
Act which has violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433 and 434 by its
failure to register with, and report to, the Commission.
David Melville, Curt Clinkscales, and Robert Monier are
alleged to be the organizers of Defeat Durkin, and the
complainant makes the further allegation that Defeat
Durkin, as a "single candidate" political committee,
has accepted contributions from David Melville in excess
of the contribution limitations (Attachment 1). 1/

1/ On October 27, 1980, the Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee
filed, in U.S. District Court for the District of New Hampshire,
a petition for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief, a
motion for the immediate issuance of a temporary restraining
order, and a motion for a preliminary injunction. Briefs

were submitted by the petitioner (Attachment 2) and the
Commission on October 29, 1980. The petitioner submitted an
additional filing with the Court on October 29, 1980 (Attach-
ment 3). The Court dismissed the petitioner's complaint on
October 31, 1980. Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee v. Federal
Election Commission, No. C80-503D (D.N.H., Oct. 31, 1980).




On October 27, 1980, notification letters were |
to Defeat Durkin, David Melville, Robert Monier, and
Clinkscales. On October 30, 1980, the Office of Gene
Counsel received additional information from the compla
(Attachment 4). The responses of Robert Monier, David
Melville, and Curt Clinkscales were received on November » L
1980, November 18, 1980, and November 28, 1980, respectiv.lyﬂ;,
(Attachments 5-7). il

II. FACTUAL BASIS AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
A. The facts asserted in the complaint and responses.

Complainant's allegation that "Defeat Durkin" is a
political committee within the meaning of 2 U.S.C. § 431(4)
appears to be based on various news articles and anti-Durkin
advertisements which appeared in several New Hampshire
newspapers and on radio stations, statements made
by Robert Monier during a press conference held on October 6,
1980, and the affidavit of Charles Russell, counsel for the
Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee. Copies of the materials
upon which the complainant relies to make its allegations
were submitted with the complaint. Additionally, subsequent
to the filing of the complaint, the complainant submitted
a list of the various newspapers which printed the anti-Durkin
advertisements, including the dates and approximate cost of
the ads, 2/ and also provided copies of certain news articles
which appeared in the Boston Herald American on October 24, 1980,
and the Monadnock Ledger on October 8, 1980.

Apparently, two anti-Durkin advertisements were placed
in the Concord Monitor and the Berlin Reporter on September 15,
1980, and October 15, 1980, respectively, and several other
newspapers during the period of August 25, 1980, through
October 21, 1980. One of the two ads, entitled "The Two Faces
of John Durkin," attacks the voting record of Senator Durkin
by comparing his votes on tax cuts with contrasting statements
made by the Senator in a constituent newsletter. The other ad,
"John Durkin vs. Your Children," claims that Senator Durkin's
voting record demonstrates that the Senator casts "anti-child,
anti-parent, and anti-family votes."” Both ads state that they
are "[plaid for by David B. Melville and not authorized by any
candidate or candidate's committee." The advertisements, the
complainant maintains, contain a "clip-out coupon, which
readers are invited o forward to 'Defeat Durkin' along with
financial or other offers of assistance." According to the
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2/ The complainant has estimated the total cost of the
Defeat Durkin ads to be approximately $12,519.46.
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complainant, the solieitation of 'astiptance ... vill
certainly be characterized by some portion of the read
ship as a solicitation of funds."

The ads do in fact contain a coupon which the reader
is directed to return to "Defeat Durkin." 3/ However,
while the ads contain the language "I'll help DEFEAT
DURKIN" and "If you would like to assist in this effort .
please complete the coupon,” the ads request only the
name, address, occupation, and employer of the individual
offering assistance. No financial assistance is expreaaly
requested. Indeed, the complainant has not supported its
claim with any facts, other than the affidavit of its
counsel, that the Defeat Durkin effort received contributions
from anyone other than David Melville, the individual who
paid for the advertisements. 4/

Robert Monier is alleged to have lent his "name, advice,
and support to the anti-Durkin campaign" and to have "called
a press conference to announce the formation of the 'Defeat
Durkin' campaign.” 5/ Complainant states that "[i]ln the
course of that conference, Mr. Monier conceded all of the
essential facts of this case" by announcing "a cooperative
venture on the part of himself, Mr. David Melville, and
C & L Communications, Inc., of Falls Church, Virginia,
the purpose being to mount a massive drive, funded by
Mr. Melville, to defeat Senator Durkin." Mr. Monier's remarks
during the October 6, 1980, press conference state in pertinent
part:
This press conference was called to announce
the formation of DEFEAT DURKIN, a concerted effort
to expose the real record of John Durkin in the
United States Senate.
I have agreed to serve as State Coordinator
for DEFEAT DURKIN, a post that make me the
spokesman and director of the New Hampshire drive.

3/ The addresses for the Defeat Durkin effort differ on the
coupons which appear on the two types of advertisements. One
address is listed as Box 472, Rindge, New Hampshire, and the
other as Suite 7, 63 N. State Street, Concord, New Hampshire.

4/ The affidavit of Charles Russell, counsel for the Durkin
for U.S. Senate Committee, states that Kathryn Reddy, an
apparent volunteer at Defeat Durkin "headquarters," responded
in the affirmative to his question of whether "contributions
and mail" were received at that office.

5/ Complainant's allegation that Mr. Monier lent his name,
advice, and support to the campaign appears to be based on

a news article printed in the Concord Monitor on October 7, 1980.
The article reports Robert Monier as saying " [David] Melville
asked him to organize the movement and to lend his name, support
and advice."
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on issues of critical mportanee ses o :

statewide newspaper ads on the tax issue, and
repeated them in mid-September.

As DEFEAT DURKIN State Coordinator, I plan
to conduct news conferences and to issue news
releases to inform voters of Mr. Durkin's record.

Although Mr., Monier identified himself as the "state
coordinator" and "spokesman and director" of "Defeat
Durkin," complainant's claim that Mr. Monier's statements
demonstrate that "Defeat Durkin" constitutes a political
committee under the Act is misleading in view of the
limited nature of the remarks. At most, the intricacy
of the effort is made apparent.

The complainant states that it should be noted that
C & L Communications, Inc., the advertising agency apparently
retained to conduct the Defeat Durkin campaign, "is not
simply an organization tendering commercial services in the
ordinary sense" as the agency is "very close to the political
line" and "mixes professional services with specific political
advocacy." 6/ Thus, the complainant alleges that Curt
Clinkscales, the agency's "treasurer," has "undertaken an
immediate and direct personal role in the [Defeat Durkin]
activities in New Hampshire." Based upon the complainant's
"information and belief" Mr. Clinkscales is alleged to have
"organized the inaugural press conference attended by ...
[Mr.] Monier" and returned "all press calls placed to
Mr. Melville about this press conference." No evidence was
submitted by the complainant, however, to document this
claim.

6/ The complainant's statement concerning the nature of
business conducted by C & L Communications, Inc., appears

to be based on a news article which was run in the Concord
Monitor on October 29, 1980. Doug Lee, the reported Pre-
sident of C & L Communications, Inc., is quoted in the
article as saying that he did not think it was strange that
Mr. Melville had hired his firm because Mr..Melville "knew C&L
Communications, Inc., was 'very close to the political line'
and specialized in political advertising by groups affiliated
with no campaign."




It is further alleged that the "least active me
of this effort appears to be Mr. Melville, who is me
available from personal resources the $100,000 to be:
spent by 'Defeat Durkin'." 7/ Complainant, therefore,. : i
asserts that "the direction and control of ‘'Defeat nurkin‘ L
lies with Robert Monier, Curt Clinkscales and other ko
'‘'staff'.”™ This contention appears to be based solely
on the alleged facts that "Mr. Melville was not even in
the country®" when the first series of anti-Durkin newspaper
advertisements appeared and that "in the only reported
interview with Mr. Melville, he exhibited no knowlege [sic]
of the content of the very advertisements that he was
financing, claiming that he left the management of the
effort to the 'staff'." 8/ There is, however, no evidence
in the exhibits provided by the complainant which supports
the allegation that it is Mr. Monier and Mr. Clinkscales,
and not Mr. Melville, who direct and control the Defeat
Durkin effort. Rather, in one of the news articles upon 'which
the complainant relies to make its allegations, Mr. Melville
is quoted as responding, in regard to the labelling of
the Defeat Durkin effort as a "movement," that "[t]his is me,
me alone" and "[i]lt's my money and all I have is a two-man
outfit doing research for me." Furthermore, an affidavit
submitted by the Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee quotes
Mr. Monier as saying that while he "did look at the ads
before they went in for taste,"” he has "no control over
them except to look at" them.

The complainant concludes that "the joint activity of
Mr. Melville, Mr. Monier, C & L Communications, Inc., and
Mr. Clinkscales (and possibly others)" qualifies their
efforts as a "political committee" which has "clear registration,
reporting and other obligations under the FECA." Additionally,
it maintains that since "the committee in question is a 'single
candidate' committee, which is seeking to influence the defeat
of only one candidate, any individual contributing to the committee
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7/ Complainant's statement that Mr. Melville plans to spend
$100,000 appears to be based on an article published in the
Nashua Telegraph on October 16, 1980. However, that same
article quotes Mr. Melville as saying "I can't allow it [the
anti-Durkin campaign] to top $50,000."

8/ The allegation that David Melville stated that he left

the management of the Defeat Durkin effort to staff appears

to be based on a news story in the Nashua Telegraph on

October 16, 1980. The article reported that David Melville
"couldn't recall the issues targeted in the 'Two Faces' ads,
and quotes Mr. Melville as saying 'I knew a few of his [Senator
Durkin] votes and had the staff uncover more'."
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is limited to §1, ooo. The complainant asserts, therefoza,“ i
that as Mr. Melville "has already contributed more than $8,000*
both David Melville and the Defeat Durkin effort have violtt!d b
the contributicn limitation provisions of the Act. ”

The response of David Melville (Attachment 6) argues
that the allegations in the complaint are without merit
as Mr. Melville "acted well within the confines of the i
Federal Election Campaign act [sic] and the Supreme Court's
ruling in Buckley v. Valeo [sic] and that he has in fact
operated as an individual making independent expenditures
completely financed by himself.® In support of its argument,
the response asserts that Mr. Me1v1lle has "filed reports
with the Federal Election Commission ... as mandated by 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(C)." 9/ The response further argues that while Mr. Melville
had "political ads produced by C & L Communications," and
while he "utilized Robert Monier as his spokesman in New Hampshire,"
David Melville "neither solicited nor accepted contributions
from any individuals, groups, committees, corporations, partner-
ships or any other entity whatsoever" and that the coupon attached
to the ads were "used for control purposes in an effort to
measure the impact of the ad, and in no instance solicited money
or provided the customary space for stating the amount of the
contribution."

The response of Robert Monier (Attachment 5) concurs with
the response of David Melville and further states that "the
allegations of fact contained in the Durkin for U.S. Senate
complaint are both groundless and full of misrepresentations.”
As with the response of Mr. Melville, the response of Mr. Monier
asserts that this matter centers around David Melville who
"made independent expenditures in an individual effort to defeat
Senator John Durkin” and that neither Robert Monier nor David
Melville solicited or accepted contributions from any source
in an effort to defeat Senator Durkin. The response of
Mr. Monier concludes, in explanation of his role in the Defeat
Durkin effort, that Mr. Monier "acted solely as a spokesman
for David Melville in an individual effort to defeat then
Senator John Durkin."

In answer to the complaint, Curt Clinkscales has reiterated
the position of both David Melville and Robert Monier that the
complaint should be dismissed because the activities of which
the complainant complains are the making of independent expen-
ditures by David Melville (Attachment 7). Mr. Clinkscales,
chairman of C & L Communications, Inc., ("CLCo, Inc.") 10/, has

9/ On October 10, 1980, David Melville filed an October 15,
1980, report which reported $14,647.84 in independent expen-
ditures against John Durkin. The expenditures were reported
as being made to C&L Communications on August 14, 1980, and

September 2, 1980 (Attachment 8).

10/ The complainant has identified Mr. Clinkscales as the
treasurer of CLCo, Inc. but Mr. Clinkscales' reply notes
that he is the chairman of the company.
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explained that "CLCo, Inc. was engaged by Mr. David Melv

in a non-contractual arrangement to write, design and pl
advertisements for his independent expenditures effort'~,,‘
that the company served "Mr. Melville by advising himon =
media questions and in placing newspaper and radio adverﬁiin-
ments paid for in full by Mr. Melville." The response !utthar
argues that "[n]leither CLCo, Inc., nor any member of its

staff were in any way connected to any ‘committee' as alleged
by the Durkin campaign.”

Furthermore, the allegation that "Mr. Melville did not
direct and control the expenditures of the effort" has been
termed "totally false" by Mr. Clinkscales. The reply of
Mr. Clinkscales maintains that "Mr. Melville had total power
of approval for all ads and ad copy as well as placement® and
that "[n]Jo ads were placed without his express approval in
advance." The reply continues that the coupons were only
"added [to the ads] to gauge response by the public to the
advertising campaign” and did not solicit contributions.

In summary, Mr. Clinkscales notes that "[a]t no time were
there any discussions between the alleged parties as to
the formation of a 'committee'” and that "Mr. Melville's
timely and full filing of his report (FEC Form 5) for an
independent expenditures campaign prove his intent to act
under this provision of the law."

B. The law applicable

The term "political committee” is defined at 2 U.S.C.
§ 431(4)(A) to mean any committee, club, association, or
other group of persons which receives contributions
aggregating in excess of $1,000 during a calendar year
or which makes expenditures aggregating in excess of $1,000
during a calendar year. 11/ Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 433(a)
a political committee which is neither an authorized committee
nor a separate segregated fund shall file a statement of
organization with the Commission within ten days after
becoming a political committee within the meaning of the Act.
A political committee is further required by 2 U.S.C. § 434
to report all receipts and expenditures of the committee.

11/ The courts have not addressed the specific question of
what constitutes a "group of persons." Instead, courts
addressing this provision have focused on the purpose of the
activities engaged in by particular organizations. See
Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 79(1976); United States v.
National Committee for Impeachment, 469 F.2d 1135, 1140-42
(2d Cir. 1972); American Civil Liberties Union v. Jennings,
366 F.Supp. 1041, 1056-57 (D.D.C. 1973), vacated as moot

sub nom Staats v. American Civil Liberties Union, 422 U.S.
1030 (1975).
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committee to report the name and address of each

receives any disbursement during the reporting pe

aggregate amount or value in excess of $200 withi

year in connection with an independent expenditur

reporting committee, together with the date, amou

purpose of any such independent expenditure, and a

which indicates whether the independent expenditure is in
support of, or in opposition to, a candidate. The report should
also contain the name and office sought by each candidate,

and a certification whether such independent expenditure

is made in cooperation, consultation, or concert with, or

at the request or suggestion of, any candidate or any authorized
committee or agent of the committee.

Section 434(c)(2) of Title 2 requires every person,
other than a political committee, to file within 24 hours
after an independent expenditure is made, a report of any
independent expenditure aggregating in excess of $1,000 or
more made after the 20th day but more than 24 hours before
any election. Section 434(c)(2) further requires any
person making an independent expenditure to file, no later
than the 12th day before any election, a pre-election report
which is complete as of the 20th day before such election.

Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1l)(C) no person may
contribute more than $5,000 per calendar year to any political
committee which is neither the authorized committee of a candidate
or a political committee established and maintained by a national
political party. Section 44l1a(f) of the Act prohibits a political
committee from knowingly accepting a contribution which is in
violation of the Act.

C. Application of law to facts.

In view of the repl1es of David Melville, Robert Monier,
and Curt Clinkscales, it is the position of the General Counsel
that the Defeat Durkin effort does not constitute a political
committee within the meaning of the Act. 1Instead, the Defeat
Durkin effort constitutes the activities of one individual,
David Melville, exercising his right to make unlimited in-
dependent expenditures to defeat Senator Durkin in the 1980
election.

The primary factor in this matter, in the General
Counsel's view, is the evidence that the costs of the Defeat
Durkin advertisements were paid for solely by David Melville.
If the Defeat Durkin effort had been financed by David Melville
and other individuals, this "group of persons"” may have qualified
as a political committee under the Act. However, as the ads
apparently were funded only by David Melville, and no other




 ;petlonl nade;cunv : hto thaeneteat Du
it does not seem that & group of persons “whic
- contributions... or makes expenditures,"” i.e., a’
committee, exists under the Act. 12/

The fact that Robert Monier served as spoke‘_
the Defeat Durkin effort, or that Curt Clinkscale
was retained to perform a professional service, d
in the view of the General Counsel, warrant a dif
clusion. It must be assumed that an individual mak
independent expenditures may require assistance to
an effective and professional advertisement. If a po

expenditure, individuals would be precluded, in effect,
engaging in independent expenditures under the Act. 13/

In view of the foregoing, it is the opinion of the
General Counsel that the Defeat Durkin campaign was in
essence the independent expenditure activity of one individual,
David Melville, and that the Defeat Durkin effort does not
constitute a political committee within the meaning of the
Act. As the complainant's allegation that David Melville.
contributed to the Defeat Durkin effort in excess of the
contribution limitations is premised upon its contention that
the Defeat Durkin effort constitutes a political committee,
the allegation is without susbstance.

It is, however, the view of the General Counsel that
David Melville, as an individual making independent expen-
ditures, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) by his failure to
file a 12 day pre-election report and a 24 hour report
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12/ It is also significant that David Melville appears to
have had ultimate control of the Defeat Durkin effort. The
complainant has not supported with any concrete facts its
allegation that Robert Monier and Curt Clinkscales, and

not Mr. Melville, authorized, directed, or controlled the
expenditures involved.

8

13/ The situation here in question is materially distin-
guishable from the situation presented to the Commission

in Advisory Opinion 1980-126. In AO 1980-126 an individual
established a bank account in the name of "Independent Voters
for a Republican Victory," solicited contributions to lnde-
pendent Voters, and alone made all decisions involving Inde-
pendent‘Voters. Independent Voters was described as an
on-going organization. On the basis of the facts presented,
the Commission determined that the activities of both the
individual and contributors to Independent Voters consti-
tuted a political committee under the Act. The reasoning in
that situtation was that the individual reached beyond his
personal funds and resources to involve numerous contributors
in the same activity, and that the contributors divested
themselves of control over any decisionmaking in the making
of expenditures.
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Hampshire. Although, as previously discussed, Mr.
filed an October 15, 1980, report which reported o
expenditure to C&L Communications on August 14,
amount of $7,468.73) and another on September 2

the amount of $7,179.11), the expenditures shou

been reported to the Commission prior to October 1980
As the initial payment for the ads was made on August

SR
1980, and thus more than 20 days prior to the September 9,

1980, primary election, Mr. Melville should have filed a
12 day pre-primary election report. As the September 2,
1980, payment was made after the 20th day, but more

than 24 hours before the September 9, 1980, primary
election, Mr. Melville should have also filed a 24

hour report. In consideration of Mr. Melville's
failure to timely disclose his activity, the General
Counsel recommends that the Commission find reason to
believe David Melville violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2).

RECOMMENDATIONS

Find no reason to believe the Defeat Durkin effort
violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, or 44la(a).

Find no reason to believe David Melville violated
2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, or 44la(a) in regard to the
Defeat Durkin effort.

Find reason to believe David Melville violated
2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) in regard to the independent
expenditures made by him as an individual.

Find no reason to believe Robert Monier violated
2 U.S.C. §§ 433 or 434.

Find no reason to believe Curt Clinkscales violated
2 U.S.C. §§ 433 or 434.

Send the attached letters.

Attachments

- Complaint
Brief of Durkin for Senate
Notice affidavit of Durkin for Senate
Letter from Durkin for Senate
Response of Robert Monier
Response of David Melville
Response of Curt Clinkscales
FEC Form 5 filed by David Melville
Proposed letters
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Durkin for ﬂ(ssisinifﬁﬁ?
Committee g

David Melville,
Robert Monier,
Curt Clinkscales,
et. al.

COMPLAINT AND REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED CONSIDERATION

-

I. Introduction

The Durkin for U.S. Senate Committee has uncovered
certain serious violations of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended, which have been -- and will continue
to be -- committed in the course of this year's United
States Senate election in New Hampshire. The violations in
question have led to the expenditure of thousands of dollars
of illegal funds to defeat Senator John Durkin, who is
currently campaigning for reelection. Immediate, expedited
action by the Commission to correct these violations is'
required, for if the Commission fails to act, the Senate
campaign in New Hampshire will be tainted by election law
violations of the most serious magnitude.

II. Summary of Allegations

Through this complainé, the Durkin for U.S. Senate
Committee seeks immediate action to stop and to remedy
ongoing violations of the FECA by respondents David Melville,
Robert Monier and Curt Clinkscales. Specifically, these
individuals -- and possibly others -- have organized a
"political committee" dedicated to the defeat of Senator

-




"
~
N.
o
=
g
o

<
=
0

Durkin in this year's election campaign. This politicul o
committee, however, is neither registered nor, reporting in
violation of Sections 433 & 434 of the Act. Rty

Moreover, this committee has accepted contributionaﬁfrom
Mr. Melville well in excess of the lawful limit. Since the
committee in question is a "single candidate" committee,
which is seeking to influence the defeat of only one
candidate, any individual contributing to the committee is
limited to $1,000. See Advisory Opinion 1979- 40;
Informational letter (Re° AOR 1976-20) dated August 17,
1976. Mr. Melville, however, has already used this
committee as a conduit for the expenditure of over $8,000,
and the committee plans call for additional expenditures
for a total of $100,000. This flagrant violation of the law
has enabled this committee to run, throughout the state,
newspaper advertisements and to plan radio advertisements
calling for the defeat of Senator Durkin.

III. Factual Background of the Case

Earlier this month, Mr. Robert Monier, President of the
New Hampshire State Senate, called a press conference to
announce the formation of the "Defeat Durkin" campaign. In
the course of that conference, Mr. Monier conceded all of
the essential facts of this case.

Specifically, Mr. Monier announced a cooperative venture

on the part of himself, Mr. David Melville, and C & L
Communications, Inc. of Falls Church, Virginia, the purpose
being to mount a massive drive, funded by Mr. Melville, to
defeat Senator Durkin. Mr. Monier's role was to serve as

"state coordinator", who would lend his "name, *advice, and
support” to this anti-Durkin campaign. See Exhibit "A-1","A-2".
C & L Communications, Inc., will serve as media adviser,
charged with placing the newspaper and radio advertisements
financed by Mr. Melville. See Exhibit "B".

It should be noted that C & L Communications, Inc. is
not simply an organization tendering commercial services in
the ordinary sense. By the admission of its own President,
Mr. Doug Lee, the agency is "very close to the political
line", i.e. an organization which mixes professional services
with specific political advocacy. See Exhibit "B".

Moreover, C & L Communications Treasurer, Mr. Curt
Clinkscales, is a well known political activist of the "New
Right", who has undertaken an immediate and direct personal
role in the activities in New Hampshire. Upon information

1. As of the filing of {his complaint, no filings had been made
by '""Defeat Durkin'' or any of the named individuals with the
Federal Election Commission, the Secretary of the Senate or the
Secretary of State for New Hampshire.
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and belief, Mr. Clinkscales organized “the 1naugural,
conference attended by Senate President Monier, and &
press calls placed to Mr: Melville about this press
conference were returned by Mr. Clinkscales. -

The least active member of this effort appears to be‘u:.
Melville, who is making available from personal resources
the $100,000 to be spent by "Defeat Durkin". When this '
anti-Durkin campaign opened with the first series of
newspaper advertisements, Mr. Melville was not even in the
country. See Exhibit "B". Moreover, in the only reported
interview with Mr. Melville, he exhibited no knowlege of
the content of the very advertisements that he was financing,
claiming that he had left the management of the effort
to the "staff". See Exhibit "C". Thus, although he has
provided vast sums of money, the direction and control of
"Defeat Durkin" lies with Robert Monier, Curt Clinkscales,
and other "staff".

Since the inception of this effort, newspaper
advertisements attacking Senator Durkin have appeared in
newspapers around the state. Significantly, these
advertisements contain a clip-out coupon, which readers are
invited to forward to "Defeat Durkin" along with any
financial or other offers of assistance. See Exhibits "D-1"
& llD_2||.

IV. ‘The Law of the Case

It is unclear whether "Defeat Durkin" even considers its
efforts to be lawful. At one point, Senate President Monier
declared a "loop hole" in the election laws enabled him and
his associates to operate in this fashion. As shown below,
however, this "loophole" consists simply of blantant
violations of the Act by respondents. See Exhibit "E".

A. Failure of This "Political Committee" to Register,
Report, or Comply with Any Other Requirements of the FECA

In any event, it is apparent that the joint activity of
Mr. Melville, Mr. Monier, C & L Communications, Inc. and Mr.
Clinkscales (and possibly others) qualifies this group as a
"political committee" which has clear registration,
reporting and other obligations under the FECA. See, e.qg.,
Section 433 & 434 of the Act. Section 431(4) (A) defines a
"political committee" as:

r
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"any committee, club, associatioﬁ. or'othéf,g
persons which receives contributions aggrega,

expendltures aggregat;ng in exess of $1 000 du" n
calendar year." ]

Under any analysis, it is apparent that a politic :
committee has been created through the activities of these
"persons". The association has already received '
contributions aggregating in excess of $1,000 from Mr.
Melville this year. Moreover, coupons accompanying their
newspaper advertisements solicit "assistance" from the
readers -- an appeal which will certainly be characterized
by some portion of the readership as a solicitation of
funds. Nor is there anywhere in the public record on this
effort a statement by any of these parties that
contributions from other individuals or organizations would
be unwelcome. Instead, it appears that this "political
committee", organized relatively recently, does not wish to
trouble with the fundraising difficulties encountered by
most other political entities, but instead seeks a
"loophole" to take advantage of the virtually unlimited
financing available from Mr. Melville.

B. Unlawful Contributions by David Melville to this
"Political Committee"

Apart from the failure of this "political committee" to
register, report, or otherwise fulfill any of its other
obligations under the Act, there remains the additional
violation of contributions from Mr. Melville well in excess
of the lawful limit. This "political committee", "Defeat
Durkin", is a single candidate committee.. As such, it is
limited to $1,000 in contributions from any one individual,
including Mr. Melville. See Informational létter of August
1976, cited supra. Yet, as stated previously, Mr. Melville
has already contributed more than $8,000 and expects to
contribute a total of at least $100,000. The violation
of FECA limitations involved here could not be more egregious.

V. Conclusion

For all of the foregoing reasons, there has been
uncovered in New Hampshire a violation of the FECA which
requires urgent and immediate Commission attention. The
financial support tendered by individuals and committees to
the Durkin campaign, all of it within the lawful limits, is

r




spending by opponents cf one candidate in violation of
Federal law.

Barbara F. Shea, Assistant Treasurer

Durkin For U.S. Senate Comittee
P.0. Box 1016
Manchester, NH 03105

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

COUNTY OF HILLSBOROUGH, SS.
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SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME

8

THIS 23rd DAY OF OCTOBER, 1980.

A =2
Hotary Public , James M. Génelly

My commission expires in 1983
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! political bankrolling, but has beert actlve '
in church work and conlrlbuled money toa ,

,‘" < youthcamp.

'Sen. John Durkin thinks the !ormatlon of

a Defeat Durkin adverlising campaign |s
: going to backflre, and wonders it lt ls even .

legal, -

“I don't think the people of New Hamp
. shire are going to be swayéd by an out-of-,
. stale campaign to smear my record lhe
: Démocratlcsenator said. R4

“It's all part of the same cesepool and .

b t.
.' s '. all Interconnected. It's all the lar-rlghl
(& 1"« They're golng to dump thousands of dol-

" lars into New llampshlre to try lo caplure
‘the Senateseat.” ..

> &
Robert Monler, the nepublican stale
Senate president, yesterday said contribu.
i:tlons to the Defeat'Durkip campalgn may
~reach. $100,000. The money, he sald,’
being contrlbuted by. Davld,Melvllle,

! Rindge about twbyears, ... - " )", "}

" Monler sald Melville , asked. ‘him to
' organize the movement .'\nd to' lend his
naine, support and advlce, “He talked to

" meandl agree with him,"’
Monler saild the campalgn wlll Include
radio and newspaper ads lo begin appear-
Ing in the state today. He said they will

. focus on Durkin's voting record in the Sen-

- ale, particularly on tax issues, and where
the Democratlc senator gets hls campalgn
.contributions, . .
Melviile is involved in a real estate de-

AP/Tim Baverd - yelopment In the Bahamas, Monler sald.

augn.

* He sald Melvllle has not limited himself to
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real estate developer who hps: llved ln :

v Melville purchased a number f newspw ;
per ads asking voters in the Sept. 9 pri-’
mary 'to defeat Durkin, who won the prli.

\mary agalinstlittie opposition. ' A :

. Monler said Warren Rudinan) the Re-

publican candidate opposing Durkin, has ‘,
: ot been consulted In the program, and -

that he knew of noother Indlviduals in New', . | |

- HHampshire Invelved In the Defeat Durkln “
‘campaign, " !
*" Elecction laws allow only Individuals, not’
., political action comunitlees, to spend un- -
+ limited money to defeat a candidate.

“Under federal election laws, I can have .
nolhing to do with this group,” Rudman .'! *
sald when told of the campalgn.-"I have |-
not. I'm not aware where the money Is J| -
- coming from or who the people are. nr

X i1

h

 anyone else wishes to,address any ol Johnl \

Durkin's shorlcdmings. there are enqugh ' .

Issues for people to address." '
Melville also has contributed to the New .

"\ .

¢+ England Conservative Polltical - Action -‘.‘fe-',
|"' l
e
] “ _"

Committee, whose honorary chnlrman Is
Sen. Gordon Humphrey, R-N.H. .

Durkin  questioned whether *  the!
movement s an Individual effort with in-
dependent expenditures, *'or are they ¢+ '«'
ordinating with other committees and or-’
- ganlzatlons’! contrary loelection laws. .

“1 em aware NECPAC has done some,
things in other states,” Monler said. "*This’,-,"
Is not directly connected with those at nI N "

ALJ

1-ll‘-olll“~“ g [}

“I'm going to run my own campalgn. It ~i."

oyt




Ladies and Gentlemens B A e g ‘ .

This news conference was canud to announca the fbm‘tion of
"DEFEAT DURKIN, a concerted etfort to expose tha real recoxd of John
Durkin in the United States Senate. ' QERELY

I have agreed to serve as State Coordinator for DEFEAT DURKIN, a
post that makes me the spokesman and director of the New Hampshire drive.

There is one véry simple reason for DEFEAT DURKIN. John Durkin's
votes in the U.S. Senate have been out of step with New Hampshire citizens
since he first went to Washington back in 1975.

The citizens of our state heed to know how their elected officials

rry out their wishes after their election, and we are going to tell

DEFEAT DURKIN will point out how Mr. Durkin has failed to represent

*~the views and values of New Hampshire people in his votes as our Senator

on issues of critical importance to the citizens of the Granite State.

R Further, we shall show the very close record of Mr. Durkin's voting
a .

._yith the positions of Jimmy Carter, a man from ﬁhé@ Mr. Durkin seems to
gwant to distance himself. 1In the first three years of the Carter presi-
" dency, Joﬁn Durkin voted in agreement with Carter's disastrous policies
an unusually high 73% of the time.
We have already illustrated how this can be effectively done as
DEFEAT DURKIN began informally in August with statewide newspaper ads
on the tax issue, and repeated them in mld—September.
With a record as liberal as John Durkin's, there are many areas

P
from which to select to show how far out of line Mr. Durkin's votes are




As DEFERT bURKIN'Statu CQnrdinator, I plan to conduct news confer_

ences and to 1ssue news releases to inform voters of Mr. Durkin s record
which may not be otherwise addressed.

An example of this is John Durkin's latest vote in the U.S. Senate
against a tax cut for New Hampshire taxpayers. In spite of his claim to
favor tax cuts, John Durkin voted again on September 25th not to allow
our tax;s to be cut. That was at least the sixth time this year alone
that Mr. Durkin voted to‘deny us much needed tax relief, but it was the

O first time since DEFEAT DURKIN exposed his two-faced position on taxes.
« It is my personal belief that DEFEAT DURKIN will conclusively
r\demonstrate that John Durkin has failed to represent £he people of New

o
Hempshire, and will help voters to determine that to be effectively

.~ represented in Washington, they'll have to defeat John Durkin on

(o] Névember 4th.
v
o
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Money Work

Against Durkin

By JANE HARRIGAN :
AssociatedPress Writer. - r

Who is David B. Melville and why is he spending
thousands of dolars urging New Hampshire voters to
defeat Sen. John Durkin? |

Welville hasn't been on his farm in Rindge this
week to answer that question. . p

The ads began appearing in newspapers aroun
the sl:afeali‘!s “Eek. 1!heir theme: “"The Two Faces of

-

Johin Durkin.” . . '
Melville's adverlising manager, Doug Lee, sayvs

Melville may be vacationingon hisprivate islan.d in the

Caribbean. : R s s
Lée, the president of C&L Communications in Vir-

i ginia, also says Melville is performing a public sep_;ice
= s L

‘payingfor theads.-* = &= & o f 00l e
; P) pf)’u?l?inodisagrees.' Hé calls the ads evidence that
uit's going to be a nasty, dirly campaign.™. .- 2%, -

Melville’s name appears in tiny print at the bottom-

of the ads, and Jocal knowledge of _the man appears to
'..',al.l.j Pillo . .'_‘--,'. '-.'..
v eidlggngamn in the Rindge téwn office says she Lhinks
selville has lived on his esarm for about a year and_ a
half and seems tobe relired. - = .. . - 2
Melville's 1awyer, Aubrey Jones of W e;t.on, h_laaslsl..
describes his client as 2 man in his mld-SOS_: 'bainnc 'y
ap investor and philanthropist.” Jones says he knows
of no political office Melville has held,_bulfays Mc_:lvule
inierested in polities. - _.,0 - = oo
" m” spendingpis a measure of political interest, Mel-
ville is very interested. According to reports filed with
the New Hampshire secretary of state, he contributed
$5,000 in February to the New England Conservative

- Political Action Commjttee. " .~ * 7% <N .

1

The contribution was the largest single one re-
“ceived this vear by the conservalive group, whose hon-
orary chairman is Sen. Gordon Humphrey. On the
form, Melville listed his occupagnon as x_nve_slor and his
employer’s address as a post office box in “qsl?p. ,
: Also in February, béfore New Harppshlre s presi-
dential primary, Melville paid for a series of adyeni&&
ments ciling George Bush'’s record and ._Vw_a‘n?u.:g.v g

icnot tobe *Bushwacked.” 7 " 5.0 .3 -
: publcc&rL Communications placed-those ads, and Lee
says Melville spent **at least $2,500" on thal campaign.
Melville later returned to C&L with hisideas about
* Durkin, Lee said the **Two Faces" ad ran this week in
virtually every paper in New Hampshire and cost Mel-
. ville $8,000. % it --;.. ~ e v T - o N
*eo v LY TTSee MELVILLE — Page12
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(Continued From Page 1) R
Melville's proposed contract with the agency §
includes two more newspaper ads, Leesays, and}
possibly a radio and television campaign. '
“According to David, we will be going for
:“:srq:" Lee says, *“This is just the first in 2 se- |
Lee says a New Hampshire man's association
" withan advertising agency in Falls Chureh, Va.,
is not as stranie as it might seem. He says Mel-.
ville knew C&L was “very close to the political §
" line™ and specialized in political advertisin by f
- groupsaffiliated withnocampaign. . =
Independenceis the key in so-called “negative
adverlising.” Federal regulations Iimit politigal
action commitlee contributions to particular
canci2ales, but do not limit spending by inde-

pendent, unafliliated groups. .

Durkin says the recent proliferation of neg-
ative ads “‘raises some very serious legal ques-
tions about what constitutes an independent ex-

penditure, : L

. “These negative groups let the candidate take
- the high road. He talks about the effect of Japa-
... nese beetles op photovoltaic célls while do
- the mudslinging. They use the money to do a,
% ga!chet Jjob, a smear.campaign on the Incum-

B e e S B e A
: Lee sees it differently: ‘“There’s a differencé '
“between a smear campaign and using an incura-

“'bent’s voting recdrd. 1f we said Durkin -was a-
massive womanizer, that would be a smear.., ::

-—*Butif someoneis portraying himself one way.
and the actual facts show another, we're actual-’
.ly doing a publicservice by pointing that out.*.

+ Thenewspaper ad focuses on Durkin’s record
on- laxes, saying the Demccratic senator has
Pledged to fight for lower taxes but has voted
against severallax cuts. A coupon at the bottom
asks readers to “‘assist in this effort” to defeat
BurkinFss =5 SRS P o S ik

Durkin says the ad doesn’t bother him as
much as the idea of political fund-raising by in-’

dependent groups. T S 1,98

*“Nobody reads those things anyway unless
they're stuck in the laundromat and get sick of

" Jooking at the machines,” he said. -. - =2
T Lee acknowledges there is *a certain stigma
:“that goes with accentuating the negative.” Even
= people who don’t agree.with an incumbent, he
!;says, sometimes object to spending money-to
Teriticize him rather than supporting an alterna-

Hiyestis Al e i s s Sl Al e e S
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